Page 1 of 15

RECEIVED
05-26-2020
CLERK OF COURT OF APPEA
OF WISCONSIN

WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS District I

STATE OF WISCONSIN

Plaintiff-Respondent

v.

Appeal No. 2020AP000588 Circuit Court Case No. 2018CM963

KENDALL MARCEL WHITE

Defendant-Appellant

On appeal from a Judgment Entered in the Circuit Court for Milwaukee County, the Honorable Dennis Flynn, Circuit Judge, presiding.

DEFENDANT-APPELLANT'S BRIEF and APPENDIX

ZICK LEGAL LLC Vicki Zick State Bar No. 1033516 Attorneys for Defendant-Appellant

PO Box 325 475 Hartwig Boulevard Johnson Creek, WI 53038 920-699-9900

ISSUE PRESENTED

1. Whether Officer Gaglione violated Mr. White's Fourth Amendment rights by unreasonably extending his detention beyond its original scope.

Answered by the trial court: No.

2. Whether Ms. Gee had authority to consent to Officer Gaglione's search of the glove compartment.

Answered by the trial court: Not answered.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT

Because the briefs should fully cover the issues in this appeal, oral argument is not recommended.

STATEMENT ON PUBLICATION

Publication is not recommended. The case presents no issues that have not been clarified by existing law.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

I. BASIC FACTS

On February 28, 2018, around 8:00 p.m., three City of Milwaukee police officers were on patrol on the city's north side. (R40:6). As they turned onto Palmetto Street, they spotted a 2007 Audi Q7 parked on the side of the street. (R40:8). The Audi Q7 disturbed Officer Donald Gaglione because it was parked about two feet away from the curb, had no rear license plate, and it appeared to him that the windows were tinted too dark. (R40:8). Officer Gaglione activated his lights and pulled up behind the vehicle, but not before a

Case 2020AP000588 Brief of Appellant Filed 05-26-2020 Page 5 of 15

woman walked up to the vehicle and sat down in the passenger seat. (R40:13, 25).

Thereafter, Gaglione approached the driver, a young African-American male identified as the defendant, Kendall White. (R40:15). The woman sitting in the front passenger seat was identified as Lloyshonda Gee. (R40:34).

In response to Officer Gaglione's questions, White said he was the owner of the Audi, that he had just purchased it, but had not had time to register it. (R40:17). But White did tell Gaglione that there was a temporary plate displayed in the back window. (R40:16). Officer Kotnik examined the plate and reported to Gaglione that it was a temporary Illinois plate that had expired a month earlier. (R40:17).

For reasons unexplained, and despite the fact that White said he owned the Audi Q7, Officer Gaglione wanted to verify ownership. (R40:17). To those ends, he asked White to exit the vehicle so he could search for the Audi's vehicle identification number. (R40:21-22). He found it on the passenger side of the Audi and wrote it down in his memo book. (R40:39). But rather than run the VIN through the department computers, he asked Ms. Gee to open the glove compartment to check for any paperwork that might identify White as the owner. (R40:22-23). Ms. Gee complied and when she opened the glove box the officers spotted a Smith & Wesson .380 caliber handgun. (R40:23). Because White did not have a concealed carry permit, Gaglione placed him under arrest. (R1).

II. PROCEDURE IN THE TRIAL COURT

In March 2018, the Milwaukee County District Attorney charged White with one count of carrying a concealed

Case 2020AP000588 Brief of Appellant Filed 05-26-2020 Page 6 of 15

weapon, a Class A Misdemeanor. (R1). In July 2018, White moved to suppress the gun evidence on grounds that, had the police not violated in Fourth Amendment rights, they would not have discovered the hand gun. (R8). Further, he argued, Ms. Gee lacked authority to consent to the search of his glove compartment. (R8).

The circuit court heard Mr. White's motion in August 2018. At the hearing Officer Gaglione testified about the events of February 28, 2018 and why he did what he did. (R40). After listening to the testimony and the arguments of counsel, the court denied White's motion to suppress. (R40:64). It concluded that Officer Gaglione's search was entirely proper. (R40:64).

Thereafter, White tried his case to a jury in February 2019. (R46-49). The jury found him guilty as charged. (R49:47). In May 2019, the circuit court sentenced him to 75 days in the House of Correction, but stayed that sentence in favor of twelve months of probation. (R52:22). It is from this Judgment of Conviction that White appeals.

Noteworthy, documents inside the glove compartment did reveal that Kendall White was indeed the owner of the 2007 Audi Q7. (R40:24, 52-53).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Whether the circumstances of a stop or detention meet constitutional standards is a question of law that this Court reviews de novo. *State v. Gammon*, 2001 WI App 36, \P 6, 241 Wis.2d 296, 625 N.W.2d 623.

Case 2020AP000588 Brief of Appellant Filed 05-26-2020 Page 7 of 15

ARGUMENT

In this appeal Kendall White argues that the circuit court erroneously denied his motion to suppress for two reasons: (1) The government's search of his vehicle was conducted in violation of his Fourth Amendment rights, as Officer Gaglione had no grounds to continue searching the Audi Q7 after White admitted it was not registered, and (2) Ms. Gee lacked authority to consent to the search of his vehicle.

I. Fourth Amendment Standards.

A traffic stop is a form of seizure triggering Fourth Amendment protections from unreasonable searches and seizures. *State v. Gammon*, 2001 WI App 36, ¶6, 241 Wis.2d 296, 625 N.W.2d 623. To stop a vehicle, police must have a reasonable suspicion, grounded in specific articulable facts and reasonable inferences from those facts, that an individual is violating the law. *Id.* When a court reviews a Fourth Amendment challenge it first determines whether the initial interference with an individual's liberty was justified. *Id.* If so, it then considers whether subsequent police conduct was reasonably related in scope to the circumstances that justified the stop. *Id.*

An investigative detention must be temporary and last no longer than is necessary to effectuate the purpose of the stop. *Id.* ¶11. The scope of detention must be carefully tailored to its underlying justification. *Id.* After the initial stop, the scope of the officer's inquiry, or the line of questioning, may be broadened beyond the purpose for which the person was stopped only if additional suspicious factors come to the officer's attention – keeping in mind that these

Case 2020AP000588 Brief of Appellant Filed 05-26-2020 Page 8 of 15

factors, like the factors justifying the stop in the first place, must be particularized and objective. *Id.*

II. Officer Gaglione violated Mr. White's Fourth Amendment rights by unreasonably extending his detention beyond its original scope.

In this appeal, Mr. White concedes that Gaglione's initial interference with his liberty was justified for the reasons Gaglione gave at the motion hearing: White had parked his vehicle too far from the curb, the tint on his car windows appeared to be too dark, and he did not have a rear license plate. (R40:8). These three reasons, White submits, would lead a police officer to reasonably believe that White was then and there violating the law.

What he argues in this appeal, however, is that Gaglione extended his investigation beyond its original justification. Once White told Gaglione that he had not had time to register the Audi, Gaglione's detention should have ended. At that moment Gaglione had effectuated the purpose of his stop – to find out whether the Audi was registered. After White admitted it was not, Gaglione should have issued him a ticket and sent him on his way. After White's admission, no additional factors came to Gaglione's attention that would have caused him to believe the Audi was stolen. Whether White owned the vehicle, or whether it was stolen, was not one of the reasons Gaglione gave for initiating the stop and, therefore, Gaglione exceeded the scope of his detention, rendering it unreasonable.

The transcript of Gaglione's testimony at the motion hearing illustrates the unreasonableness of his detention. The night of the incident, Gaglione was wearing a body camera. (R40:11). During the motion hearing the district attorney

Case 2020AP000588 Brief of Appellant Filed 05-26-2020 Page 9 of 15

played the recording, narrating the start and stop times. (R40:11-12).

For example, beginning at 25 seconds and pausing at 46 seconds, the recording showed Gaglione approach White and explain the reasons for the stop. (R40:14).

At 46 seconds to 1 minute and 9 seconds the two discuss the temporary license. (R40:16).

At 1 minute and 9 seconds to 2 minutes and 23 seconds is where White tells Gaglione that he recently bought the Audi but had not yet registered it. (R40:17).

At 2 minutes and 23 seconds to 3 minutes and 12 seconds shows Gaglione ask White to step out of the vehicle. (R40:20).

At 3 minutes and 12 seconds to 5 minutes and 44 seconds shows Gaglione searching for a VIN number and asking Ms. Gee if she could find a document with White's name on it. (R40:22).

Finally, at 5 minutes and 44 seconds to 6 minutes shows Ms. Gee opening the glove compartment revealing the hand gun. (R40:23).

As the transcript shows, Gaglione effectuated the purpose of his stop between one and two minutes after approaching Mr. White. That is, he established that the vehicle was not registered. But rather than end his detention at this point, he continues his search for another four minutes looking for some way to identify the owner of the Audi. Because this continued search exceeded the scope of the detention it violated Mr. White's Fourth Amendment rights.

Case 2020AP000588 Brief of Appellant Filed 05-26-2020 Page 10 of 15

Now the State made much ado at the motion hearing about Gaglione's general knowledge about missing license plates and stolen vehicles, suggesting there was some connection between the two and suggesting further that Gaglione was justified in demanding proof of ownership. (R40:13, 18-19). Mr. White submits he was not.

Gaglione did not detain White because he thought the Audi was stolen. At least that was not one of the reasons he gave for detaining White. Nor had Gaglione been told to be on the lookout for a stolen Audi Q7. (R40:43-44). Nor did he have information on Kendall White that would indicate he might be a car thief. (R40:43-44). Gaglione's generalized belief that African-American males driving nice, yet unlicensed, Audis around Milwaukee's north side might be car thieves is not enough to warrant his extended detention of White. (R40:13-14). At minimum, he would need specific, articulable facts that led him to believe this particular Audi was stolen.

Now, the circuit court found this to be a proper search. (R40:63). For reasons unexplained it felt Gaglione needed to know who owned the Audi. (R40:60). The court's finding in this regard is curious given that proof of ownership is not among the ordinary inquiries an officer is permitted to make during a traffic stop. *State v. Wright*, 2019 WI 45, ¶24 n.20, 386 Wis.2d 495, 926 N.W.2d 157. Driver's license, registration, and proof of insurance, yes, but not proof of ownership. *Id*.

Likewise, the trial court felt Gaglione conducted a proper search because he did not stray from his primary purpose. (R40:64). This finding is just wrong, because Gaglione's primary purpose in detaining White was to ascertain whether the Audi was registered, not whether it was stolen. (R40:14).

Case 2020AP000588 Brief of Appellant Filed 05-26-2020 Page 11 of 15

White submits that the circuit court reached the wrong decision when it concluded Gaglione had conducted a proper search. Had it undertaken the proper Fourth Amendment inquiry, meaning had it scrutinized whether Gaglione tailored his detention to its underlying justification, it would have concluded this was not a proper search.

III. Ms. Gee had no authority to consent to Gaglione's search of the glove compartment.

White's second claim of error is that Ms. Gee had no authority to consent to Gaglione's search of the glove compartment. Accordingly, the circuit court should have suppressed the fruits of that search.

The general rule is that a third-party with common authority over, and a sufficient relationship to, property may consent to its search. *United States v. Matlock*, 415 U.S. 164, 171 (1974). A third-party consent search is permissible if the consenter has actual authority to consent of if the officer reasonably believes that the third-party possesses common authority over the property to be searched. *Illinois v. Rodriguez*, 497 U.S. 177, 186-87 (1990). The test for apparent authority is an objective one. In assessing the officer's reliance on consent, this Court evaluates whether the officer's belief that the third-party had the authority to consent was objectively reasonable in view of the facts and circumstances known at the time of the search. *Id.* at 188-89.

Further, the consent inquiry focusses not necessarily on the third-party's authority over the specific object in question, but on the third-party's authority over the premises in which the object is located. *State v. Matejka*, 2001 WI 5, \P 36, 241 Wis.2d 52, 621 N.W.2d 891.

Case 2020AP000588 Brief of Appellant Filed 05-26-2020 Page 12 of 15

Under the circumstances in Mr. White's case, it was not reasonable for anyone to conclude that Ms. Gee had authority to give Officer Gaglione permission to look into the glove compartment. For starters, objectively it should have been fairly obvious to Gaglione that Gee was not the owner of the Audi. He saw her walk up to the vehicle and climb into the passenger seat as if she were a guest of White, the driver. (R40:25).

Second, White had already told Gaglione that he was the owner of the vehicle, that he had recently purchased it, and that he had not had time to register it. (R40:17). White told the officer about the temporary plate in the back window, suggesting he was familiar with the vehicle. (R40:16).

Third, Ms. Gee never said anything to Gaglione to suggest that she was the owner of the Audi or had authority over it. (R40:35, 40).

Fourth, by the time Gaglione asked Gee to open the glove box he knew that White was uncomfortable with Gaglione's continued questioning. At the suppression hearing Gaglione described White as agitated, so much so that he had to order White out of the Audi and ask him to stand behind it while he searched for the VIN number. (R40:21).

Under these circumstances it would not be objectively reasonable to conclude that somehow Ms. Gee had authority to consent to a search of the Audi's glovebox. Conversely, these facts suggest just the opposite – that White was agitated because Gaglione kept questioning his ownership.

Furthermore, where a suspect is present and objecting to a search, implied consent by a third-party with an inferior Case 2020AP000588 Brief of Appellant Filed 05-26-2020 Page 13 of 15

privacy interest is ineffective. *United States v. Impink*, 728 F.2d 1228, 1234 (9th Cir. 1984). This rule seems to cover the situation here. White was present. Under the circumstances, it would have been far more reasonable for Gaglione to ask White to open the glove compartment, not Gee. It appears Gaglione intentionally removed White to the back of the Audi just so he could ask Gee instead.

For these reasons Ms. Gee did not have authority over the Audi, Officer Gaglione knew she did not have authority, and therefore his search of the glovebox was not by consent.

Noteworthy is that the circuit court did not address this aspect of White's motion to suppress, so this Court does not have the benefit of the lower court's reasoning on it. White submits that this is a glaring omission on the circuit court's part. How the government gets that glove compartment open to look inside is the Fourth Amendment question in the case.

White submits that had the circuit court considered the third-party consent issue that he had raised, it would have concluded that Ms. Gee had no authority to open the glove compartment. This would have been a second reason to suppress the evidence due to an unlawful search.

CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated, Mr. White asks this Court to determine, as a matter of law, that his detention on the night of February 28, 2018 did not comply with the constitutional standards of the Fourth Amendment, for this reason his motion to suppress the hand gun evidence should have been granted, and therefore his judgment of conviction must be vacated.

Case 2020AP000588 Brief of Appellant Filed 05-26-2020 Page 14 of 15