10-13-2020 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

STATE OF WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEALS

DISTRICT I

Appeal Case No. 2020AP000588-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

VS.

KENDALL MARCEL WHITE,

Defendant-Appellant.

On appeal from a Judgment Entered in the Circuit Court for Milwaukee County, the Honorable Dennis Flynn, Circuit Judge, presiding

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

John Chisholm District Attorney Milwaukee County

Anthony Jackson Assistant District Attorney State Bar No. 1090574 Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

District Attorney's Office 821 West State Street, Room 405 Milwaukee, WI 53233-1485 (414) 278-4646

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

ARGUMENT

I. OFFICERS DID NOT UNLAWFULLY EXTEND THE DURATION OF THE TRAFFIC STOP

A. The Issue Was Not Raised In The Trial Court So It Cannot Be Raised Now

The Court should not consider White's new argument that police unlawfully extended the traffic stop. "Issues that are not preserved at the circuit court, even alleged constitutional errors. generally will not be considered on appeal." State v. Huebner, 2000 WI 59, ¶ 10, 235 Wis. 2d 486, 492, 611 N.W.2d 727, 730. The party raising the issue on appeal has the burden of establishing, by reference to the record, that the issue was raised before the circuit court. Young v. Young, 124 Wis. 2d 306, 316, 369 N.W.2d 178 (Ct. App. 1985).

Here, the record establishes that the question of whether the extension of the stop was reasonable was not raised before the circuit court. The only issue White raised was whether officers conducted an unlawful search of his vehicle. (R. 8: 1-8: (R. 40:52-56.) White failed to note with particularity whether the extension of the stop was reasonable in his written motion or the suppression hearing. White cannot now argue that the stop was illegally extended. Huebner, 2000 WI 59, ¶ 10. However, even if the Court chooses to consider White's new argument the Court should deny it.

B. Officer Gaglione Was Permitted To Perform "Ordinary Inquiries" During The Traffic Stop As Part Of the Mission Of The Stop

The Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution prohibits unreasonable seizures. U.S. Const. Amend IV. A traffic stop constitutes a seizure. State v. Popke, 2009 WI 37 ¶

11, 317 Wis. 2d 118, 765 N.W. 2d 56. However, an officer may conduct a traffic stop when there is "reasonable suspicion that a traffic law has been or is being violated." *State v. Houghton*, 2015 WI 79, 364 Wis. 2d 234, 868 N.W. 2d 143.

The Supreme Court of Wisconsin has held that a traffic stop is comprised of 1) addressing the traffic violation; 2) conducting ordinary inquires; and 3) taking negligibly burdensome precautions to ensure officer safety. State v. Wright, 2019 WI 45, ¶ 24, 386 Wis. 2d 495, 506, 926 N.W.2d 157, 162. Because they are a part of the traffic stop, an officer's "ordinary inquiries" do not extend the stop or violate the Fourth Amendment. Id. These ordinary inquires include checking the driver's license, registration, and proof of insurance, as well as determining whether the driver has outstanding warrants. Id. at \P 24 n. 20. See also State v. Floyd, 2017 WI 78, at ¶ 27, 377 Wis. 2d 394, 413, 898 N.W.2d 560, 569 (holding an officer may ask about the presence of weapons and for permission to frisk without violating the Fourth Amendment). If the inquiry is part of the mission of the stop, it is not an extension of the stop. Wright, 2019 WI at ¶ 28. If the inquiry is unrelated to the mission of the stop, it only violates the Fourth Amendment if they "measurably extended the duration of the stop." Id. See also Rodriguez v. United States, 575 U.S. 348, 354 (2015) ("Authority for the seizure ends when these tasks are, or reasonably should have been, completed."). Moreover, the Fourth Amendment allows unrelated investigative inquiries not related to the mission of the stop, provided such inquiries do not "measurably extend the duration of the stop." State v. Wright, 2019 WI 45, at ¶38.

Here, there was no unlawful extension of the stop because the interaction was part of the officer's ordinary inquiries associated with the initial stop. Officer Gaglione was still determining the vehicle's title and registration status. (R. 40:17; 23.) Determining ownership of the vehicle was one purpose for the stop due to Officer Gaglione's experience with stolen and unregistered cars being used in the facilitation of crimes. (R.

¹ White concedes the initial stop was justified. This issue is not in dispute. (Br. Def. Appellant at 5.) Certainly, the record demonstrates that there was reasonable suspicion supporting the traffic stop based on the tint on the windows, the lack of a rear license plate with registration sticker, and parking too far from the curb (R. 40:7-8; 16, 26.)

40:13.) Applying the principles from Rodriguez v. United States and State v. Wright, the traffic stop's mission was incomplete. Moreover, the record shows Officer Gaglione acted promptly and diligently in his attempt to accomplish the initial justification for the stop. The entire detention, including determining White's identification, the vehicle registration, and then the ownership of the vehicle took less than six minutes. (R. 40:22.) Six minutes was not unreasonable.

White asserts that the mission of the traffic stop should have ended after approximately two minutes, because at that point Officer Gaglione discovered the vehicle was not registered. (Br. Def. Appellant at 6.) However, the record is clear that the officers were still completing the purpose for the stop. Further, it would be impractical and against public policy to deem the stop completed at this point as it would impede law enforcement's ability to ensure a vehicle is not stolen. Police officers must be able to conduct brief investigatory stops like in the current case to protect public safety. Officers have an affirmative duty to keep our public highways safe, which includes ensuring someone is licensed, insured, and does not have any outstanding warrants. It also includes ensuring that the vehicles being operated are not stolen or being used in the commission of crimes. In fact, when recognizing that officers may ask to inspect a vehicle's registration and proof of insurance as a part of ordinary inquiries, the United States Supreme Court noted that "[t]hese checks serve the same objective as enforcement of the traffic code: ensuring that vehicles on the road are operated safely and responsibly." Rodriguez v. United States, 575 U.S. 348, 355 (2015). The Court has also specifically recognized the special role VINs and checking vehicle ownership play in ensuring public safety, explaining, a "VIN helps to ensure that automobile operators are driving safe vehicles. By making automobile theft more difficult, the VIN safeguards not only property but also life and limb." New York v. Class, 475 U.S. 106, 111 (1986). Therefore, White's position completely flies in the face of the Court's underlying logic that officers may make ordinary inquiries in furtherance of their mission to complete the traffic stop and ensure public safety.

Furthermore, even if this court finds there was an extension of the original stop, the extension was reasonable and did not run afoul of the Fourth Amendment. The courts have

recognized that extensions are permitted so long as they are reasonable and do not measurably extend the stop. See e.g. State v. Brown, 2020 WI 63, ¶ 29, 392 Wis. 2d 454, 475, 945 N.W.2d 584, 594 (question regarding the possession of any "concerning items' did not 'measurably extend the duration of the stop' because it was posed 'concurrently with mission-related activities") (internal citations omitted). Officer Gaglione explained that many vehicles without license plates "are either unregistered autos or are used to facilitate some other type of crime." (R. 40:13.) Checking for the VIN number and inquiring about the title was a reasonable measure to ensure the vehicle was not stolen. See e.g. United States v. Lepinski, 460 F.2d 234, 238 (10th Cir. 1972) (finding limited investigative detention proper where neither occupant provided proper registration or title documents and officer did not know who might be the vehicle's owner); United States v. Viezca, 555 F. Supp. 2d 1254 (M.D. Ala. 2008), aff'd sub nom. United States v. Ubaldo-Viezca, 398 F. App'x 573 (11th Cir. 2010) (traffic stop of truck and trailer was not unreasonably prolonged within meaning of the Fourth Amendment; trooper was justified in prolonging the stop particularly since he had an articulable suspicion of illegal activity, including the lack of a valid title, registration, and proof of insurance). Based on these facts, given the suspicions over the ownership of the vehicle and the concurrency of the mission, White cannot establish the six-minute stop was unreasonably extended.

- II. THE FOURTH AMENDMENT WAS NOT IMPLICATED BECAUSE THE OFFICER'S ACTIONS WERE REASONABLE UNDER ALL OF THE CIRCUMSTANCES
 - A. Protection From Unreasonable Searches Turns On The Specific Facts And Circumstances, Including Whether The Search Was Of A Vehicle

While the Fourth Amendment protects from unreasonable searches and seizures, there is no simple test for determining reasonableness other than by balancing the need to search against the invasion. New York v. Class, 475 U.S. 106, 116 (1986). Thus, reasonableness lies in the circumstances of each specific situation. United States v. Burton, 441 F.3d 509, 511 (7th Cir. 2006); State v. Coffee, 2020 WI 53, ¶ 36, 391 Wis. 2d

831, 849, 943 N.W.2d 845, 854 ("bright-line rules are disfavored in United States Supreme Court Fourth Amendment jurisprudence.").

Circumstances involving vehicles are treated differently than dwellings. State v. Bruski, 2007 WI 25, ¶ 37, 299 Wis. 2d 177, 194, 727 N.W.2d 503, 511. "Warrantless searches of homes are 'presumptively unreasonable,' but searches of vehicles are not." State v. Marquardt, 2001 WI App 219, ¶ 26, 247 Wis. 2d 765, 781, 635 N.W.2d 188, 196. "The Fourth Amendment does not treat a motorist's car as his castle." Illinois v. Lidster, 540 U.S. 419, 424 (2004).

The Supreme Court has recognized both that a vehicle's physical characteristics and use results in a lessened expectation of privacy, as well as the fact that vehicles themselves are heavily regulated by the state. New York v. Class, 475 U.S. 106, 112-113 (1986). Therefore, the Supreme Court noted, "Every operator of a motor vehicle must expect that the State, in enforcing its regulations, will intrude to some extent upon that operator's privacy," particularly with regards to the VIN. Id. at 113.

Specifically, in New York v. Class, the Supreme Court of the United States held that officers' act of reaching into a vehicle to remove papers which were obscuring the vehicle's VIN, was constitutionally permissible, justifying the subsequent seizure of the weapon protruding from under the driver's seat, 475 U.S. 106, 107 (1986). There, the defendant was stopped for two traffic violations. Id. at 108. The defendant provided the vehicle's registration and proof of insurance, but stated that he had no driver's license. Id. There was no reason to suspect that the vehicle was stolen or contained contraband, nor that the defendant committed any other offense other than the traffic violations. Id. The Court noted a "demand to inspect the VIN, like a demand to see license and registration papers, is within the scope of police authority pursuant to a traffic violation stop." *Id*. at 115. When considering whether the defendant could have returned to the vehicle to remove the papers himself, the Court also commented,

The pistol beneath the seat did not, of course, disappear when respondent closed the car door behind him. To have

returned respondent immediately to the automobile would have placed the officers in the same situation that the holding in *Mimms* allows officers to avoid—permitting an individual being detained to have possible access to a dangerous weapon and the benefit of the partial concealment provided by the car's exterior. In light of the danger to the officers' safety that would have been presented by returning respondent immediately to his car, we think the search to obtain the VIN was not prohibited by the Fourth Amendment.

Id. at 116.

Therefore, the court ultimately found the seizure of the firearm was constitutionally permissible. *Id.*

Also, the courts recognize that vehicles create more exigency because they "are movable, making plausible an automobile's escape from a jurisdiction or concealment before a warrant can be obtained." State v. Coffee, 2020 WI 53, ¶ 25. Therefore, not only is there a lower expectation of privacy, but also "the legitimate governmental interest in a warrantless search is stronger." Id.

Furthermore, third parties with common authority may consent to a search. *United States v. Matlock*, 415 U.S. 164, 171 (1974). Common authority generally rests on mutual use and joint access or control. *Id.* at 171 n. 7. It does "not depend on legal property rights, but rather on the relationship in fact of the consenting party to the searched premises." *Kelly v. State*, 75 Wis.2d 303, 315, 249 N.W.2d 800, 806 (1977). Such common authority could extend to girlfriends or family friends. *See e.g., State v. Sobczak*, 2012 WI App 6, 338 Wis. 2d 410, 808 N.W.2d 730 (holding Sobczak's girlfriend, who was staying in home by herself for the weekend, had actual authority to consent to search of the home and of Sobczak's laptop which she had permission to use); *People v. White*, 64 P.3d 864 (Colo. App. 2002) (holding a family friend had authority to consent to the entry of police into the defendant's father's home).

However, even if common authority does not exist, the inquiry is not over. The court next turns to whether police reasonably believed the individual had general access or control. *Illinois v. Rodriguez*, 497 U.S. 177, 188 (1998). A search may

still be permissible via the apparent authority doctrine if police reasonably believed that the third party had the authority to consent. State v. Sobczak, 2012 WI App 6, ¶ 11. This doctrine may be applied to passengers in vehicles. See e.g. United States v. Ospina, 682 F. Supp. 1182, 1185–86 (D. Utah 1988)(search with passenger's consent valid where passenger had knowledge about the car, had control and dominion by readily retrieving the registration from the glove compartment without help from the defendant, and controlling the keys while opening the trunk for the search, all without objection by the defendant); United States v. Chavez Loya, 528 F.3d 546, 555 (8th Cir. 2008) (valid passenger consent search where passenger responded to officer's request for the registration and opened the glove box and removed the registration without any help from the driver; passenger responded to the questions about ownership, and driver gestured to passenger for consent to search.). The policy behind the apparent authority doctrine is rooted in the fact that the exclusionary rule operates to deter the police from unreasonable search and seizures. Nix v. State, 621 P.2d 1347, 1349 (Alaska 1981). Therefore, there can be no deterrent effect where the police believe they are acting reasonably and it is only with hindsight that actual authority to consent to a search is missing. Id.

B. The Officer's Actions Were Reasonable Under These Particular Circumstances

As the circuit court pointed out, the officer could have merely transported the car due to the traffic violations, including the improper licensure and registration. (R. 40:61.) Indeed, then the officers could have impounded the vehicle and conducted an inventory search, leading to the inevitable discovery of the firearm. See e.g. State v. Asboth, 2017 WI 76, ¶ 35, 376 Wis. 2d 644, 670, 898 N.W.2d 541, 553 ("given the uncertainty arising from the fact that Asboth was not the car's registered owner, taking possession of the car to investigate its ownership may have been more reasonable than outright returning the car to Asboth."); State v. Brooks, 2020 WI 60, ¶ 24, 392 Wis. 2d 402, 425, 944 N.W.2d 832, 843 ("when law-enforcement officers have constitutionally legitimate reason for impounding vehicle, they may inventory its contents without warrant and without violating constitution). Moreover, as the circuit court found, under all of the specific circumstances in this case, the officer's

actions were not unreasonable. Officer Gaglione has vast experience with investigating stolen and unregistered vehicles. (R. 40:13.) Often, such vehicles do not have license plates and are used for the facilitation of other crimes. (Id.) Thus, in addition to the governmental interests in ensuring vehicles are registered and safe to drive on public roads as acknowledged by Class, there is a strong governmental interest in curtailing the operation of stolen vehicles. Here, there was no valid license plate. (R. 40:16-17.) White provided no proof of registration. (R. 40:27.) White also provided no proof of ownership. (R. 40:15-21.) Additionally, White became excessively emotional. (R. 40:21-22.) Officer Gaglione, as a part of the ordinary inquiries permitted by law and associated with the traffic stop, requested the title so he could verify whether White was, in fact, the owner. (R. 40:17, 19, 22.) This was the reasonable thing to do. At that point in time, Officer Gaglione suspected the vehicle was stolen, in which case L.G. would have the same apparent authority as White to provide the title and registration documents. Also of note, L.G. was sitting in front of the glove compartment and was able to open it without any assistance from White. (R. 40:22-23.) There is no evidence that her access to the glove compartment was restricted or curtailed in any way while L.G. was occupying the vehicle, nor any evidence that White told L.G. not to allow anyone into it. Further, as Class noted, due to the heavy State regulations of vehicles, there is a lesser privacy interest in titles and registration information and it was permissible for Officer Gaglione to request it as a part of his traffic stop. Given all of these facts, the officer's conduct was reasonable. Therefore, because the Fourth Amendment only prohibits unreasonable searches, White's rights were not violated.

White asserts that it is unreasonable to believe that L.G. had any authority over the glove box. (Br. Def.-Appellant 9.) Again, as indicated above, it was reasonable to believe L.G. had just as much authority as White, given the Officer's reasonable belief, based on his training and experience, that the car was stolen given the lack of documentation of ownership and registration, as well as the out-of-state expired license. Furthermore, there is no rule that passengers being picked up in a vehicle cannot have authority. Also L.G., who was sitting in front of the unlocked glove compartment, had direct access to the glove compartment as well. White also cites *United States*

v. Impink, 728 F. 2nd 1228, 1234 (9th Cir. 1984) to argue that any authority L.G. had was trumped from White's objection. However, there is no evidence in the record that White did object to the officer's request of L.G. to provide any title document. Therefore, this case does not apply to the current facts.

Rather, all of the facts show the officer's actions were reasonable. The officer could have impounded the vehicle from the beginning of the interaction, when it was discovered that there was no proper license, registration, and White provided no documentation of ownership. The officer was merely doing his duty to try to establish ownership. It would be *unreasonable* to release a suspected stolen car to the car's occupants without any verification of ownership. Therefore, because the Fourth Amendment protects against *unreasonable* searches, under these circumstances this court should uphold the ruling of the circuit court.

CONCLUSION

For the reasons discussed, this Court should affirm the circuit court's denial of White's motion to suppress and his judgment of conviction.